UNITED
NATIONS

CCPR

International covenant
on civil and
political rights

Di str.
GENERAL

CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
27 QOctober 1999

Oiginal: ENGLISH

HUMAN RI GHTS COWM TTEE

Si xty-seventh session

SUMVARY RECORD OF THE 1791st

Hel d at the Pal ais des Nations,
1999,

on Friday, 22 Cctober

Chai r person:

|ater: M.

MEETI NG

Geneva,

at 10 a.m

Ms. MEDI NA QUI ROGA

BHAGWATI

(Vi ce- Chai r person)

CONTENTS

CONS| DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES
THE COVENANT

Second periodic report of the Republic

PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF

of Korea

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be subnmitted in one
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so
record. They should be sent within one week

of the working | anguages. They
i ncorporated in a copy of the
of the date of this docunment to

the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE.

4108, Pal ais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Conmittee

at this session wll
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 99- 44887 (E)

be consolidated in a single corrigendum

to be issued



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONS| DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF
THE COVENANT

Second periodic report of the Republic of Korea (CCPR/ C/ 114/ Add. 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, M. Mn-Soon Chang, M. Jong Hoon
Kim M. Yun-Sung Hwang, M. Kang-11 Huh, M. Sung-Wok Lee and M. Jae-Hoon
Lim (Republic of Korea) took places at the Committee table.

2. M. Man- Soon CHANG (Republic of Korea), introducing his country's second
periodic report (CCPR/ C/114/Add.1), said that it dealt mainly with

devel opnents since the subm ssion of the initial report (CCPR/ C/ 68/ Add.1l) and
covered the period fromJuly 1991 to July 1996. Since the subm ssion of the
second report, further progress had been nade with regard to civil and
political rights. A new Covernnent, the “Government of the people”, had been
sworn in in February 1998. The President, M. Dae-Jung Kim was well known
for his devotion to, and advocacy of, human rights and denmocracy. His

i naugur ation had marked the first transfer of power by popular vote fromthe
ruling party to the opposition since the founding of the Republic 50 years
before and had nade human rights a priority itemon the national agenda.

Gui ded by the principle of parallel devel opnent of denocracy and the market
econony, the Government had taken steps to bolster human rights.

3. In preparing the second periodic report, due attention had been paid to
the questions raised during the consideration of the initial report and to the
Committee's comrents thereon (CCPR/ C/ 79/ Add.6). One of the main concerns
expressed by the Commttee related to the continued operation of the Nationa
Security Law (NSL). G ven the security situation of the Republic of Korea as
a divided nation, it could not sinply do away with that Law. In the |light of
the Committee's views on the conpatibility of some of its provisions with
freedom of expression, however, and to prevent the Law from being exploited as
a pretext for human rights abuses, his Governnent intended to amend it in a
forward-1ooking manner. As a transitional neasure, it had issued three
directives in 1998 and 1999 which forbade | aw enforcenent officials from
interpreting the NSL in a broad manner. The nunber of NSL viol ators had
decreased in 1998 by 12.3 per cent as compared with the previous year, and the
nunber of those arrested had al so dropped, by 27.5 per cent.

4, The “ideol ogy conversion oath”, which had been inplenmented for nore
than 60 years, had been abolished in June 1998 and replaced by the

“| aw- abi dance oath”, which did not force prisoners to forfeit or change their
political beliefs or opinions but requested of theman oath that they would
conply with the law and not conmit any further offences. The new oath was not
a prerequisite for release but was to be used as a reference. 1In a specia
amesty of 15 August 1999, 49 NSL of fenders had been rel eased, even though
they had refused to sign the oath.

5. The Committee had al so expressed concern at the use of excessive force
by the police and the extent of the investigatory powers of the Nationa
Security Planning Agency. The report showed that the Republic of Korea had
made strenuous efforts to prevent acts of torture or inhuman treatment by the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 3

police. The Penal Procedure Code had been revised in Decenber 1995 and now
required the prosecutor to inspect nore than once a nmonth the detention
facilities of police stations and investigating bureaux. |If the prosecutor
deci ded that an act of torture or inhuman treatnment had taken place, he could
order the instant rel ease of arrested or detained suspects or transfer the
case to the prosecutor's office

6. The Republic of Korea had acceded to the Convention agai nst Torture and
O her Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatnment or Punishnent in 1995. |Its
initial report under the Convention had been submitted in February 1996 and
had been considered by the Commttee in Novenmber 1997. Since President Kinms
i naugur ation, his CGovernnment had been attenpting to stanp out harsh treatnent
in the investigative process, including the extraction of confessions, by
devel oping scientific investigation facilities and techni ques such as the
genetic informati on bank established by the Suprene Prosecutor's Ofice.

7. During the revision, in January 1994, of the National Security Planning
Agency Act, a provision had been introduced to indicate that its agents nust
nei ther arrest nor detain individuals through abuse of authority or negligence
of the procedure prescribed by law. Violations of that provision were

puni shabl e by up to seven years' inprisonnment. The Agency had been reborn
under the current Government as the National Intelligence Service and was now
subj ect to oversight by one of the 16 standing commttees of the Nationa
Assenbl y.

8. Protection of the human rights of convicted and unconvicted prisoners
was al so an inportant issue raised during the consideration of the initia
report. In January 1995, the Governnent had revised the Penal Adm nistration
Act, inproving and updating a nunber of provisions. For exanple, provisions
on puni shnment of prisoners for violations of regulations had been nodified to
enphasi ze humani tari an treatnent and the educational goals of the pena
regime. All the new neasures were intended to protect the human rights of

pri soners and help them adapt to society nore easily.

9. Since July 1999, and in accordance with the principle of presunption of

i nnocence, unconvicted prisoners had been allowed to wear civilian clothes
during trials. A “meeting house for married couples” had been in operation on
a trial basis since May 1999. Tenporary |eave and sl eep-out policies were

al so being inplenented for prisoners of good conduct. His Government had
freed the remaining 17 long-term convicted prisoners in February 1999. They
were all agents of the Denocratic People's Republic of Korea convicted of
crimes such as murder, destruction of property and espionage. They had been
rel eased on a purely humanitarian basis, even though they had refused to sign
an oath to abide by the |aws of the Republic of Korea.

10. Turning to the right to peaceful assenbly, he said his Governnent had
attenpted to provide guidance for the peaceful settlenent of disputes between
wor kers and management, even in the case of illegal |abour strikes, as long as
t hey involved no physical violation or destruction. It was true that many

wor kers had undergone much hardship during the restructuring foll ow ng the
econom c crisis of 1998. Despite the Government's efforts, workers

experi enci ng econonm ¢ hardshi p had become viol ent, beating non-unionists and
corporate officials with steel pipes and damaging factory facilities. The



CCPR/ C/ SR 1791
page 4

Government had had no choice but to enforce the law in respect of workers
engaged in illegal acts of violence. |In doing so, however, it had exercised
prudence and arrested only active participants and | eaders. Wth the adoption
in 1999 of the Act relating to the Establishment and Managenent of Teachers
Uni ons, the freedom of associ ati on of teachers was now assured.

11. The report described a nunber of neasures taken by his Governnent to
realize the principles of equality, neasures which included enactnent of the
Basi ¢ Enpl oyment Policy Act, the Senior Citizens Enploynent Pronotion Act and
t he Handi capped Enpl oynent Protection Act, and also the revision of the
Speci al Education Promption Act. Legal aid programmes were being carried out
to protect the rights of citizens who were unable to sue for damages owing to
unfam liarity with the aw or |ack of funds to cover the cost of proceedings.
Since 1 June 1996, legal aid, which had been linmted to civil offences, had
been extended in crimnal cases to farners, fishermen, workers in financia
need, small business owners and others, provided that certain conditions were
met .

12. In Decenber 1998, the Republic of Korea had ratified the ILO

Di scrimnation (Enploynment and Occupation) Convention (No. 111), thereby
reflecting its strong commitnent to the elimnation of any discrimnation

agai nst foreign workers. It had al so anended the Foreigners (Land

Acqui sition) Act, in May 1998, to abolish discrimnatory elenents of the Act
which had Iimted the ability of foreigners to acquire land in the Republic of
Kor ea.

13. Turning to the Governnent's efforts to ensure equal rights for nmen and
wonen, he said the Wonen's Devel opment Act had been approved in 1995 to
consolidate a |l egal basis for adequate institutional and financial measures in
support of wonmen's participation and gender equality at all |evels of society.
The Governnent had adopted targets for the participation of wonen in public
office, facilitating the recruitnment of a prescribed nunber of women into the
public sector each year. The targets had been due to rise from 10 per cent

in 1996 to 20 per cent in 1999.

14. Recogni zi ng that domestic violence constituted a serious crine, the
Gover nment had approved the Prevention of Domestic Violence and Victim
Protection Act in 1997. The Act held State and | ocal autonomous bodies
responsi bl e for creating |l egal and institutional nechanisns to prevent
domestic violence and protect its victins. The Gender Discrimnation
Prevention and Relief Act had been adopted in January 1999. It was designed
to prevent discrimnation in every sector of society but al so guaranteed
relief neasures if a case of gender discrimnation occurred.

15. The Republic of Korea had been faced with difficulties in advancing the
status of wonen owing to the economc crisis across Asia. Mle and fenale

wor kers ali ke had suffered the inpact of the econom c downturn, further
aggravated by the poverty of wonmen and coinciding with an increase in famly
di sputes, donestic violence and divorce rates. To address those problenms, his
Gover nment had been providing free vocational training and |ivelihood

assi stance for unenpl oyed wonen who were heads of households. It was al so

i npl ementing projects to create jobs and awardi ng pronotional grants to

busi nesses which rehired femal e enpl oyees who had been laid off. January 1999



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 5

had seen the passage of the Wonen's Enterprise Assistance Act which pronoted
the establishment of businesses by wonen and guaranteed equitable conditions
for such conmpanies. It accorded priority to enterprises headed by wonen
provi ding supplies to the Governnent and easy access to credit and

i nformati on.

16. On 13 Decenber 1997, the CGovernnment had anended the Nationality Act to
do away with gender discrimnation regarding the acquisition of nationality by
birth. Under the old Act, a person could obtain Korean nationality only if
his or her father had been a Korean national at the time of his or her birth,
but that woul d now be possible also if the nother was a Korean national

17. Concern had been expressed by the Committee during the consideration of
the initial report about the high number of offences puni shabl e by death.

In 1990, his Governnent had revised the Aggravated Puni shnment for Specified
Crimes Act and the Aggravated Punishnment for Specified Economic Crines Act so
as to renove the death penalty from 15 provisions, including those relating to
crimes of bribery, evasion of custons duty, etc. It had also revised the
Crimnal Code in Decenmber 1995, deleting the death penalty from provisions
relating, inter alia, to inundation of residential structures |eading to death
or injury, obstruction of public traffic causing death or injury, obstruction
of the use of public drinking water causing death or injury and death
resulting fromrobbery. The Governnent would continue to endeavour to narrow
the scope of crines subject to capital punishment and would review the

possi bility of abolishing the death penalty in the long run

18. The Human Rights Bill, which was to establish the national human rights
commi ssion, had been finalized by the Government in March 1999 and was now
bei ng debated by the National Assenbly. The work of the national comm ssion
woul d strengthen the nechani sns for human rights protection and enhance public
awar eness of human rights.

19. At the tinme of the Covenant's ratification, the Republic of Korea had
expressed reservations concerning article 14, paragraphs 5 and 7, article 22
and article 23, paragraph 4. Reservations to article 23, paragraph 4, had
been wi thdrawn on 15 March 1991 and those to article 14, paragraph 7,

on 21 January 1993. Geat efforts had been nade to raise public awareness of
the Covenant by distributing the Korean translation of mjor internationa
human rights treaties, by educating officials engaged in human rights-rel ated
wor k, and by hol di ng sem nars and workshops on human rights. H's Government
pl anned to hold a subregi onal workshop on human rights education in Seou
from1l to 4 Decenber 1999 in collaboration with the Ofice of the

H gh Comm ssioner for Human Rights. The workshop woul d provide a good
opportunity to explore practical ways of pronoting human rights education

20. Admittedly, there was room for inprovenent in his country's judicia
system The CGovernnment hoped that the suggestions and contributions to be
provi ded by the Cormittee would hel p to expand human ri ghts awareness. Since
joining the United Nations in 1991, the Republic of Korea had participated
actively in the promotion of human rights, and the report represented a
continuation of the trend that had seen the country establish itself as a
responsi bl e menber of the international conmunity. He hoped that the report,



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 6

in conjunction with the additional information he had just provided, would
assist the Commttee in understanding the inplenentation of the Covenant in
his country.

21. The CHAI RPERSON t hanked the del egation for its introductory statenent
and drew attention to the list of issues to be taken up in connection with the
consi deration of the second periodic report, which read:

“Status of Covenant

1. Is it intended to establish an i ndependent mechani sm for
nmoni toring human rights violations and for addressing conpl aints?

Discrimnation on grounds of sex (arts. 3 and 26)

2. What neasures has the State party adopted to protect wonen agai nst
domestic violence? What renedies are available to a woman who i s
subj ected to donestic viol ence?

3. What neasures have been taken to pronote equality between nmen and
wonen? What neasures have been adopted to remedy the discrimnatory
situation suffered by wonen within the electoral systemand their
participation in political parties and in public service (see para. 64
of the report)?

4, Do wonen have access to neans of famly planning and are these
means available to all wonen?

Ri ght to hold opinions, freedom of expression (art. 19)

5. G ven the Comrittee's concerns regarding the conpatibility of the
Nati onal Security Law with the Covenant, has the State party revi ewed
past convictions under this Law so as to ensure rel ease of persons
convicted for nere expression of their views? 1s release of such
persons conditional on signing a | aw abi ding oath? Please give details
of the nunmber of people convicted of offences under this Law since

subm ssion of the last report. Wat has been done by the State party to
make the National Security Law conpatible with the Covenant?

6. In regard to paragraph 199 of the report, please explain the
speci fic grounds for censorship of filnms and video works by the
Performance Moral Committee.

Freedomfromtorture, liberty of person and prohibition of arbitrary
arrest and detention, administration of justice (arts. 7, 9 and 14)

7. What procedures exist for independent nonitoring of the police

and nenbers of the National Intelligence Agency and for investigating
conplaints of torture and other abuses of power by these bodies? Please
gi ve details of investigations carried out and their results.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 7

8. Is there an i ndependent mechani smfor nonitoring prison conditions
and for investigating conplaints by prisoners and detai nees? Please
gi ve details.

9. What has been done to investigate allegations of gross human
rights violations during the period of mlitary government that was in
power until the late 1980s and to prosecute persons responsible for such
vi ol ati ons?

10. In light of paragraphs 106 to 110 of the report, please explain
the new conditions in the Law of 8 May 1991, as anended, concerning
"voluntary appearance', as well as the provisions of the Code of
Crimnal Procedure of 1 January 1997 regardi ng the issuance of arrest
warrants and the length of pretrial detention. Are all persons under
arrest afforded access to | egal assistance?

11. Pl ease expl ain use made of the Security Surveillance Law to
moni t or conduct of sone rel eased prisoners.

Right to privacy (art. 17)

12. Pl ease explain the law, practice and judicial control of
eavesdroppi ng on private conversations, particularly of tel ephone
conversations, by State authorities.

Freedom of assenbly and freedom of association (arts. 21 and 22)

13. Pl ease explain reasons for arrest of trade union | eaders who
organi zed strikes protesting government policy and conment on
conpatibility of these arrests with articles 21 and 22 of the Covenant.
Are any trade union |l eaders still being detained?

14. What restrictions exist on the right to formor to join trade
unions and the right to strike under the Trade Union Rel ations
Adj ust ment Act and any other |aws?

15. In relation to paragraphs 213-214 of the report, is the fina
deci si on whether to allow assenblies and denpnstrations in the hands
of the police? 1Is it possible to challenge a decision prohibiting an
assenbly or a denonstration before the courts?

Discrinination (art. 26)

16. What | egislation exists to protect persons against discrimnation
in the public and private sectors?

17. What neasures has the State party taken to protect mgrant workers
and other aliens fromharassnent and ill-treatnent by the police and
immgration officials? Does |egislation exist to guarantee equality in
conditions of enpl oynent between m grant workers and Korean residents?



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 8

Opti onal Protoco

18. VWhat action has the State party taken foll ow ng adoption of
the Committee's Views in the follow ng communi cations: 518/ 1992
(Sohn case), 574/1994 (Kim case) and 628/ 1995 (Park case)?

Di ssemi nation of information about the Covenant (art. 2)

19. Pl ease indicate the steps taken to dissem nate information on the
subm ssion of the report and its consideration by the Comrittee, in
particular, on the Committee's concludi ng observations. Furthernore,

pl ease provide information on education and training on the Covenant and
its Optional Protocol provided to governnent officials, schoolteachers,
judges, |lawyers and police officials.”

22. M. Jong Hoon KIM (Republic of Korea) said the subject of disabled
persons woul d be taken up later, but he wi shed to confess that his del egation
was |inguistically handi capped, Korean not being an official |anguage of the
United Nations. The del egation was further handi capped by the absence of a
menber of the governnmental comm ssion for wonen's affairs.

23. Replying to question 1 of the list of issues, he said a Human Ri ghts
Bill to establish an independent mechani smfor nonitoring human rights had
been submitted to the National Assenbly in April 1999. The National Assenbly
had had a public hearing and the Bill was now under discussion in its
Judiciary Conmittee. |In preparing the text, the Governnment had cl osely

foll owed the guidelines in the United Nations handbook on national human
rights institutions. It had paid close attention to the |egislative exanpl es
and practical experience of several other countries where human rights
commi ssi ons and ombudsnen were already in place. The Ofice of the High
Commi ssi oner for Human Rights had al so provided informati on and advi ce.

24, During the public hearing, a wide range of views had been expressed on
the Bill and a heated debate had ensued. The Governnent wel coned that variety
of opinions because it reflected the pluralismof a denocratic society. The

| egal status of the human rights comm ssion envisaged under the Act was to be
that of a corporate body, since that was seen as the best way of ensuring its
i ndependence. It would be made up of nine comm ssioners appointed by the
Presi dent, three of themto be recommended by the Speaker of the Nationa
Assenbly and three by the Chief Justice. Their tenure and status were
guaranteed by the Act. The chief conm ssioner would be able to appoint and

di scharge staff nenbers autononously, w thout governnment intervention. The
status of staff would be guaranteed in a manner equivalent to that of their
counterparts in governnent service. The budget would be furnished by the
Government, but governnent supervision of the conmmi ssion's operations had

been all but excluded by the inportance attached to its independence. The
Governnment's efforts to secure the conm ssion's independence and prevent any
official interference, particularly by the Mnister of Justice, were deened to
be fully in conpliance with the recomendations in the United Nations
handbook.

25. The Bill defined human rights as the freedons and rights of a human
bei ng which were guaranteed by the Constitution and | aws or recognized by



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 9

i nternational human rights treaties ratified by the Republic or by

i nternational customary |aw. The conm ssion's main functions would be to
provi de education on and publicize human rights, to undertake research and
make recomrendati ons on | aws, systems, policies and practices in the field of
human rights, and to investigate and remedy human rights violations. |Its
jurisdiction covered investigation of unlawful arrest, detention or torture
by | aw enforcenment or prison officers and could be extended, by an unbrella
clause, to the investigation of any coercive acts or the obstruction of an

i ndi vidual 's exercise of personal rights. The Bill contained a penalty cl ause
provi ding that hindering the exercise of the functions of a comm ssioner or
staff nmenber would constitute the crine of obstruction of official duty as
prescribed in the Crim nal Code. Persons who refused to appear or submt

mat eri al s, including docunents, provided false docunentation or materials or
obstructed an on-site visit by a comm ssioner would be liable to a fine of
approxi mately US$ 10, 000.

26. M. Kang-Il HUH responding to questions 2 to 4 on discrimnation on
grounds of sex, said that in an attenpt to elim nate domestic viol ence and
protect victins, the Government had enacted two | aws in Decenber 1997

The Special Act for the Punishnent of Donestic Violence stipulated that

enpl oyees of educational, medical, welfare and child-care facilities had a
responsibility to report domestic violence to investigating agencies. Police
of ficers who received reports of ongoing donestic violence should i mediately
go to the scene and take the necessary action. Such action included the
restrai ning of acts of violence, the investigation of the crine and the
delivery of the victim if he or she agreed, to a domestic viol ence
counselling centre or protection facility. Oher actions included the
transfer of a victimwho needed i nmedi ate nmedi cal treatnment to a nedica
facility and informng victinms of their right to file a notion for tenporary
measures, such as separation or prohibition of encroachnent by the offender
within 100 netres of the victims residence or workpl ace.

27. The second | aw adopted in December 1997, the Prevention of Donestic

Vi ol ence and Victim Protection Act, held State and | ocal autononmous bodies
responsi bl e for creating |l egal and institutional nechanisns to prevent
domestic violence and protect its victinms. It required themto establish and
operate counselling centres and custodial care facilities for victinms of
domestic violence and to support conparable facilities operated under private
auspices. As of 31 August 1999, 65 counselling centres and 14 protection
facilities had been available for victins of donestic violence. A budget of
approxi mately US$ 470, 000 had been allocated to support such centres and
facilities, and the Government planned to increase that support in the future.
A 24-hour hot line had been established nati onwi de and training sessions had
been conducted on an extensive scale for |aw enforcement officers to ensure
effective inplenentation of the Act.

28. M. Jong Hoon KIM (Republic of Korea) drew the Committee's attention to
a bookl et issued by the Presidential Comm ssion on Wnen's Affairs which
listed the addresses and tel ephone nunmbers of all protection facilities and
reporting centres around the country. The bookl et had been distributed

nati onw de.




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 10

29. M. Kang-Il HUH (Republic of Korea), replying to question 3, said his
Government was giving priority to the pronotion of wonen's rights. The

Presi dential Conm ssion on Wnmen's Affairs had the task of nonitoring the

i npl enentati on of wonen's programres. |In addition, a “master plan” had been

| aunched in 1998 to pronote the devel opnment and econom c enpower ment of wonen.
Wth a viewto inproving the status of wonen and their participation in

soci ety, a Wonen's Devel opment Fund had been established in 1997, which ainmed
to raise US$ 70 million by 2002. A Gender Discrimnation Prevention and
Rel i ef Act had been approved in January 1999, meking the Presidentia
Commi ssi on responsi ble for investigating allegations of gender discrimnation
It woul d determ ne whether or not a particular case constituted

di scrimnation, and would nediate in gender-rel ated disputes, as well as
recommendi ng neasures to rectify inequalities. Any unjustified interference
in a gender discrimnation investigation was punishable by a fine or by

i mprisonment for up to two years; persons who refused to give evidence in such
cases could be charged with negligence and fined.

30. New policies were |ikew se being devel oped to expand wonen's
participation in politics. In the |Iocal elections of 1998, 34 candi dates

out of a total of 108 had been fermale. A policy ained at increasing the
representation of wonmen in public service had been introduced in 1996, and the
target was expected to rise to 20 per cent by the end of 1999 and 30 per cent
by 2002. In April 1999, a strategy specifically designed to pronote the
status of wonen public servants by the year 2000 had been | aunched.

31. M. Jong Hoon KIM (Republic of Korea), on the question of target
percentages for the participation of wonmen in public service, said there had
in fact been conplaints frommale candi dates that to set such a high female
quota constituted a kind of reverse discrimnation which mlitated unfairly
agai nst them The Governnment was neverthel ess convinced of the need to take
affirmati ve action.

32. Anot her initiative had been the Winen's Enterprise Assistance Act of
January 1999, which gave busi nesses run by wonen priority in governnment
procurenent and all owed them easi er access to bank | oans.

33. M. Kang-Il HUH (Republic of Korea), in response to question 4, said his
Gover nment encouraged the voluntary practice of famly planning by individua
fam lies, although those living on [ow incones and in rural areas received
financial subsidies. 1In 1999, the Governnent had allocated US$ 456,000 to
cover 50 per cent of the costs of contraceptive provision. Were necessary,

| ocal autononmous bodi es woul d neet the cost of distributing contraceptive

devi ces out of their own budgets.

34. M. Jong Hoon KIM (Republic of Korea) pointed out that in 1960 the rate
of popul ation increase had been as high as 3.01 per cent. Thanks to an
intensive famly planning canpaign initiated by the Government, it had fallen
to 1.7 per cent by 1975 and to 1.57 per cent by 1980. The practice of

wi t hdrawi ng tax benefits fromfanmlies with nore than three children had

now been abolished, but despite that the rate of increase was now down

to 0.95 per cent.




CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1791
page 11

35. M. Yun- Sung HWANG (Republic of Korea), replying to question 5, said

t hat when Korea had been l|iberated in August 1945, the country had been

di vi ded between the Soviet forces in the north and the United States forces in
the south. On 1 Decenber 1948, the National Security Law had been enacted in
an effort to counter social disorder and to protect South Korea fromthe
threat of communism In 1950, the outbreak of the Korean war, which had
claimed over 3 mllion lives, had denonstrated that fear of that threat had
been wel|l founded. Although South and North Korea had since signed a peace
treaty, there had been countless small-scale conflicts along the demarcation
line over the past five decades, including an armed infiltration in 1997.

That hi story expl ai ned why the Korean people accepted the need for the

Nati onal Security Law.

36. Neverthel ess, human rights groups had had occasion to challenge the
unduly broad way in which the Law was being enforced. Accordingly, the

Presi dent had taken action to prevent any possible infringenment of human
rights by announcing a series of ammesties between March 1998 and August 1999,
under which 255 persons convicted for violating the Law had been rel eased

and 32 had had their sentences conmuted. The |aw abi dance oath that in the
past had had to be signed by convicted persons as a condition for their

rel ease was sinply a statenment that whatever opinions they m ght hold, their
actions would be conpatible with the law. Follow ng the amesty, however, the
signing of the oath was no |onger a prerequisite for rel ease.

37. Prudence was now the guiding principle in applying the Law, and as a
result the nunber of charges brought under it had decreased by 27.5 per cent
as conpared to 1998, and the nunber of prosecutions by 53.6 per cent.

In 1999, up to 20 October, a total of 117 persons had been charged under the
Law, of whom 25 had been convicted and 92 were still undergoing tria
proceedings. It should be noted that those figures were for the entire period
since the Law had been enacted, and not nerely the period since the
ratification of the Covenant.

38. Some of the provisions of the Law, notably article 7, which had been
criticized by human rights groups as being too broad and | acking specificity,
were currently being revised in a process which included public hearings. The
prudent application of the | aw under the current regine, coupled with the
establishnment of the national human rights conm ssion, was cl ear evidence that
the Governnent was dedicated to the preservation of civil |iberties.

39. M. Jong Hoon KIM (Republic of Korea), in reply to question 6, said that
the Performance Moral Committee no | onger existed. In October 1996, the
Constitutional Court had decided that exam nation of films prior to public
showi ng amobunted to censorship and was therefore unconstitutional. The
Performance Act had been anended in February 1997 and a new body set up with
the task of sinply assigning films appropriate ratings. An amendnent to the
Motion Picture Act was envi saged, allowi ng even unrated filns to be shown at
certain designated cinenas.

40. M. Sung-Wok LEE (Republic of Korea), in response to questions 7 to 11
said that conplaints of illegal conduct by police or members of the Nationa
Intelligence Agency could be freely nmade, and would be followed up by a
standard i nvestigation process. |If a conplaint of abuse of power by




CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1791
page 12

government officials or of illegal arrest or torture by police or prison
officers was rejected by the public prosecutor, the conplainant coul d appea
to a higher court, and eventually to the Constitutional Court. The Human
Ri ghts Bill now under consideration provided for all human rights violations
by the authorities to be dealt with by a national human rights conm ssion

41. In response to question 8, he said that a nunber of steps had been taken
to inprove prison conditions. Roonms for interviews with |awers had now been
installed in all public prosecutors' offices, and prisoners with records of
good behaviour were permtted the use of a tel ephone. Longer neetings with
fam |y menmbers had been granted, and innmates were allowed to subscribe to
newspapers and watch tel evision. The Governnment planned to introduce
correctional institutions operated by private persons, and to restrict the
wearing of handcuffs and prison uniforms at court hearings.

42. Regul ar i nspections, as well as visits by judges and public prosecutors,
were made to check on prison conditions. Prisoners were entitled to present a
seal ed petition to the Mnister of Justice, and to have a witten answer from
the Mnister delivered to themin person

43. Referring to question 9, he said that those who had resorted to viol ence
in quelling the denocracy novenent of 18 May 1980 had been puni shed. Those
who had taken part in the suppression of the novenent had been charged with
rebel l'ion and bribe-taking and indicted. However, they had served only

two years of their sentence and had then been released in the interests of

nati onal harnony.

44, On question 10, he said that, according to article 12 of the
Constitution, a warrant issued by a judge must be presented in cases of

arrest, detention, seizure or search. However, where a suspect was
apprehended in flagrante delicto or was suspected of commtting a crine

puni shabl e by inprisonnment for three years or nore, the authorities could
request an ex post facto warrant. Any person who was arrested or detained had
the right to pronpt assistance by counsel, and the right to request the court
to reviewthe legality of his arrest or detention

45, As to the length of pre-trial detention, a suspect nust be released if
he was not brought before a judge within 10 days, unless the detention period
was extended at the request of the public prosecutor. While a 10-day
extension could be granted, the grounds nust be stated in the application. An
arrested suspect |later released by a public prosecutor could not be rearrested
for the sane crine, unless there was superveni ng evidence. Defence counsel or
ot her persons acting on behalf of a suspect detained or arrested with a
warrant could petition the conpetent court to examine the legality of the
arrest or detention. The court nust pronptly exam ne the suspect and either
dism ss the application or order the rel ease of the suspect, who could al so be
rel eased on bail. The public prosecutor and defence counsel were entitled to
state their case in court on the day of the exami nation. The right to appear
before a judicial officer was, therefore, fully protected under the |aw.

46. As to the conditions of “voluntary appearance” referred to in
par agr aphs 108 and 109 of the report, a police officer could stop and
guestion, on the basis of reasonabl e doubt, anyone suspected of commtting a



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 13

crime, or of know edge that a crinme had been or was about to be commtted.

The suspect could be invited to acconpany the officer to a police station for
further questioning, but could refuse. |If he was taken to the police station
by force, the arresting officer could be charged with illegal arrest under the
Crimnal Code. However, if the suspect went voluntarily, he could be kept for
only six hours.

47. Turning to question 11, he said the purpose of the Security Surveillance
Law was to keep persons who had conmtted specific offences under close
observation so as to avert any risk of recidivismand help reintegrate them
into society, thus maintaining national security and social order. A person
who had served part or all of a prison sentence of up to three years for

of fences subject to security surveillance, or concurrent offences, was subject
to a security surveillance order, which could be obtained upon a public
prosecutor's application to the Mnister of Justice. The application was
reviewed by the Security Surveillance Board, chaired by the Vice-Mnister of
Justice, which issued an opinion; on that basis a decision was rendered by the
M ni ster of Justice. The person under surveillance was required to report to
his | ocal police station. A public prosecutor or Judicial Police Oficer
could render all protection deenmed necessary for the person's inprovement and
sel f-defence, as well as any assistance required for his socia

rehabilitation. Simlarly, the person concerned could file an adm nistrative
appeal with the court for repeal of the order

48. M. KRETZMER conmended the del egation's detailed oral replies, but
recalled that, follow ng consideration of the initial report of the Republic
of Korea, the Committee had noted, as its mmin concern, the continued
operation of the National Security Law. He was equally dissatisfied after the
del egation's defence of it at the current session. It was the Committee's
duty to determ ne whether the country's application of its |aws was consi stent
with the Covenant, and the delegation's replies had nmade it abundantly clear
that it was not, as evidenced by two conmuni cati ons agai nst the Republic of
Korea. It was not for the Commttee to contest any country's right to guard
its national security, as explicitly stated in its concludi ng observati ons on
the country's initial report in 1992, and the Covenant took that into account,
particularly in connection with article 19 governing freedom of expression
Limtations were indeed provided for, but they nust meet certain conditions
and nmust be shown to be necessary. Then, as now, the Comrittee had not been
convinced that the restrictions applied by the Republic of Korea had been
essential for its national security.

49. The designation of North Korea as “an anti-State organi zati on” spoke
volunes. It was unacceptable that the mere expression of views that m ght
coincide with those held by North Korea should be interpreted as endangering
nati onal security. Notw thstanding the new President's directive for a
narrower interpretation of the National Security Law, it was still in force
and until it was anended to provide that such restrictions could be inmposed
only if genuinely and strictly necessary, the Republic of Korea would continue
to be in breach of its obligations under article 19 of the Covenant. Not only
were certain political parties in Korea clamuring for its anmendnent, but the
Committee had unequi vocally stated that the Law as applied was incompatible
with that article.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 14

50. Anot her issue concerned pre-trial procedures and torture, which were
linked. The del egation had expatiated on the nechani snms adopted to prevent
torture, one such being the monthly visit by the public prosecutor to

detention facilities. |If, however, as stated in the report, a person could be
hel d for 30 days and, under the National Security Law, for 50 days, the public
prosecutor's nonthly visit could hardly be effective. It had been stated in

par agraph 118 of the report, and corroborated by the del egation, that an
arrested suspect could apply for a review of the legality of the arrest under
the new Penal Procedure Code. Article 9, paragraph 3, of the Covenant,
however, clearly prescribed that a detai nee must be brought pronptly before a
judge or other judicial officer as the nost effective means of protection
agai nst police or other pressure, placing the onus squarely on the State
party. Since Korean |aw did not conply with that provision, a detainee could
meanwhi | e be di ssuaded from seeking a review. He asked why the burden of
application was placed on the detainee, in flagrant breach of article 9.
Further, while a suspect could not be arrested wi thout a warrant, one could
presumably be obtained in his absence, thus violating article 9, paragraph 3.

51. The del egation had said that a detainee had the i mediate right to be
assisted by counsel. What did the termactually connote? Did it include the
right for counsel to be immediately informed? According to one Korean NGO

it was difficult at tinmes for counsel to gain access to detai nees. He
requested nmore information on that subject. Also, a suspect could be detained
for 10 days in police custody, followed by 10 days' detention by the public
prosecutor, who could seek an extension of a further 10 days. |If indicted,
the accused was kept in detention until the trial. Wo nade the decision and
on what grounds?

52. M. ANDO said he had been present at the consideration of the initia
report of the Republic of Korea, at the tine of the cold war, when South-North
tensi ons had been acute and the trauma of the Korean war had still been very
much in the mnds of its citizens. But tinmes had surely changed dramatically,
and the new President was applying what he had dubbed a “sunshi ne approach” to
North Korea. He hoped it would result in the unification of the two Koreas.

53. That havi ng been said, he had sone areas of concern. His first question
related to the place of the Covenant in the donmestic |egal system which had
al ready been raised during consideration of the initial report. Fromthe
current report (paras. 9 and 10) it was clear that the Covenant took
precedence. However, the report was so cautiously worded as to be anbi guous,
as instanced by the statenent that article 6 of the Constitution provided that
i nternational treaties promul gated under the Constitution and the generally
recogni zed rules of international |aw had the sane effect as the donestic
laws. But what if subsequent donestic |egislation contravened one of the
provi sions of the Covenant once it had been ratified? In the United States,
international treaties had the same rank as federal |egislation, but in the
event of conflict the treaty obligation prevailed. He inquired whether the
same obtained in the Republic of Korea.

54. He would like to know the situation on gender equality in the Famly
Law, and the outconme of the work of the Special Committee for Revision of the
Civil Code set up by the Governnment to review that Law. He shared

M. Kretznmer's concerns about the application of the controversial Nationa



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 15

Security Law (NSL) and its inhibitive effect on exercise of the right to
freedom of expression. There was, of course, the espionage clause, but that
did not stop the authorities fromtreating rel evant cases under ordinary
crimnal [aw or under a |aw specific to the interests it wi shed to pronote.
Since it was clear that the Korean people w shed to see the NSL abolished, he
wonder ed whether, with the change in the international atnosphere surrounding
Korea, there was any process of consultation with the authorities. The

del egati on had expl ained that the Security Surveillance Law was al so covered
by the NSL. It could perhaps shed sonme light on the |egal effects and
so-cal l ed reference purposes of the |aw abi dance oath prisoners were requested
to take upon their rel ease

55. M. Bhagwati (Vi ce-Chairperson) took the Chair

56. M. KLEIN, referring to questions 7-11, expressed deep concern about the
NSL. He could see that the experience of the Republic of Korea had been
difficult, traumati zed as it had been by its history of war, occupation and
division. Coming hinself froma country divided for 45 years, he understood
all too well the situation of a “front-State” situated al ong a border where
ant agoni stic ideol ogi es and val ues confronted each other, and which m ght
pronpt it to develop attitudes held untenable by others. Nonetheless, the
criticismrightly levelled at it had stemmed not from an underestimati on of

t he continuing dangers to which it was exposed, but fromthe actions of a
denocratic republic that claimed to ensure the human worth and dignity of al
people (in the terns of its Constitution) in its determ nation to avert

danger. That very question had been at the heart of the Conmittee's

del i berations on the country's initial report, and nust be at the heart of the
current discussion

57. The del egati on had pointed to new devel opnents, but although the period
covered ended in 1996, the new directives remai ned just that. Based on the
rule of law, a State's directives could not alter the NSL; judges could not be
bound by them but by the Lawin its current form It was no secret how
Korean courts had been applying that Law, and many things could occur between
the initiation of an amendment and parlianent's enactment. Meanwhile, the Law
remai ned in force and caused grave concern, containing such terns as acts of
an anti-State organization, State secrecy and infiltration. As recently

as 1997, a record 674 persons had been convicted under the Law, while the
nunber had declined, it remained |arge. Filns, books, oral and witten
protests and even paintings were censored under that Law, which could be
easily used, as indeed it had by the Republic of Korea, which saw itself as a
“front-State”, to interpret any protest against State political action as
abetting the enenmy and to i munize its own policy against criticism Thus, in
| egal ternms, the crux of the matter was that, in the fornulation of punishable
acts and in the application of the Law, the principle of proportionality as a
noder ati ng el ement had been |lost fromsight. Accordingly, the Law nust be
abol i shed or at |east carefully amended agai nst the background of the Covenant
as a whole. An inportant question was what should be done about persons

convi cted under that Law, in contravention of the Covenant.

58. He had three specific questions on that subject. First, what did the
constitutional guarantee that national security restrictions on the freedons
and rights of citizens would not violate any aspect of those rights actually



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 16

entail in relation to the aforenmenti oned cases? Second, what were the form
and duration of the correctional education provided in prisons (para. 191 of
the report) to persons convicted for attenpting to overthrow the denocratic
systen? Finally, he confessed hinself baffled by the | aw abi dance oath t hat
had repl aced the “ideol ogy-conversion oath”. Surely everyone was expected to
abide by the laws of a State? The oath also constituted discrimnatory
treatnment, since it was not required of all citizens, nor even all prisoners.
What were its precise inplications and actual effects?

59. On the independence of the judiciary, he found questionable the system
of reappointnment of judges, as established in article 105 of the Constitution
whi ch perforce affected their independence. He would Iike to know how nmany
were not reappoi nted and why, and how they would earn their living. Wre they
barristers who could sinmply resune their practice? O was their financia
security dependent on their judgeship?

60. M. LALLAH said that while the catal ogue of positive neasures taken by
the Governnent of the Republic of Korea since the consideration of the initia
report was undoubtedly inpressive, a nunber of problens remained. 1In the
first place, the Constitution had not been reviewed and was still by no neans
clear-cut on the issue of practical guarantees of the enjoyment of basic
rights. Second, the Governnment did not seemto be clear in its own m nd about
the place of the Covenant in the internal legal order. It had been brought to
his attention that the Republic of Korea's report to another nonitoring body
suggested that special |laws took precedence over obligations under
international treaties. Associating hinself with the remarks of previous
speakers on the subject of the National Security Law (NSL), he remarked that
there seemed to be a mindset in Korea that prevented an objective assessnent
of what a basic right really was. Article 7 of the Law unquestionably
constituted a gross violation of article 19 of the Covenant. In reporting a
decrease of around 25 per cent in the nunber of persons arrested under the Law
in 1998, the delegation had omtted to explain that the nunber of such arrests
had risen by over 300 per cent between 1993 and 1997. Clearly the NSL was
still being applied with great severity. Associating hinself with M. Klein's
remar ks about the so-called “|aw abi dance oath”, he remarked that such an oath
was val uel ess when there was no guarantee that the law itself did not
crimnalize the exercise of fundanmental rights under the Covenant. In

concl usion, he endorsed M. Klein's remarks concerning the security of tenure
of judges.

61. Ms. EVATT said that, while associating herself with the remarks made by
previ ous speakers, especially in relation to the NSL, she proposed to focus on
questions 2, 3 and 4 of the list of issues. Endorsing conments about the
proposed abolition of the fam |y headship system she noted the relative

i nportance given to the birth of male children in Korean society and said that
she had read with alarm of the intense interest shown by prospective parents

i n having advance know edge of the sex of a foetus and the disproportionate

nunbers of abortions of girl babies. Since, noreover, abortion was illegal in
Korea in nost cases, the very high abortion rate surely contributed towards
the country's relatively high rate of maternal nortality. |In taking effective

steps to inprove the status of wonen in society, the authorities should not
only relax the application of the abortion |aws, but should also ensure that
wonen had equal access to famly planning services.



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1791
page 17

62. Vi | e wel coming the adoption of the Prevention of Donestic Violence and
VictimProtection Act in 1997, she remarked that budget allocations for the

i npl enentation of the Act appeared to be rather low. Was it true that the
peri od of effectiveness of protection orders in cases of donestic violence was
limted to only two or three nmonths, that rape was not included under the
headi ng of donestic violence, and that rape victins were still under socia
pressure to marry the perpetrator? Oher areas of concern were the difference
between the marri ageabl e ages for nen and wonen and the conpul sory waiting
period of six nmonths for women wishing to remarry.

63. In the field of enploynment, she understood that nmany Korean women
working in small businesses did not benefit from|abour standards or equa

enpl oynment opportunities. The establishment of a Presidential Comm ssion and
the enactment of the Gender Discrimnation Prevention and Relief Act were to
be wel comed but further details were needed of the Conmm ssion's functions,
powers and accessibility to wonen workers. Lastly, referring to the low leve
of women's participation in political life, she said that in that area, too, a
conprehensive review of existing | aws was clearly required.

64. M. WERUSZEWSKI, referring to the question of torture, said that the
report and information from other sources inplied that efforts to eradicate
the practice had not yet proved fully effective. In connection with the
statement in paragraph 92 concerning conpul sory inspections of detention
facilities, he asked whether that meant that the prosecutor also had access to
detention areas run by the national intelligence agency. Wth reference to
par agraph 94, he wel conmed the Supreme Court's decision of 28 Septenber 1993
but asked for additional information about the kind of proof a victim of
torture had to produce. According to information he had received, courts were
reluctant to accept allegations of torture where there were no visible signs
of ill-treatnent.

65. Referring to the establishnent of the Human Ri ghts Infringenent Report
Centre referred to in paragraph 96, he asked for exanples of conplaints
received by the Centre over the past two years, and any action taken in
consequence. The nunbers given in paragraph 98 for cases where investigating
agents had been punished for violent or cruel treatnment of suspects seened

di sproportionately small considering that over 700 conplaints of ill-treatnent
had been filed between 1996 and August 1998. It would appear that a climte
of inpunity still existed within the |aw enforcenent services, especially

bearing in mnd that conpl ai nants included not only detai nees under the
Nati onal Security Law but also ordinary crimnals.

66. M. YALDEN, welcoming the forthcom ng establishment of a national human
rights comm ssion, asked for additional information about its functions,
operation and budget. Would nenbers be appointed for a substantial nunber of
years? Would its decisions be in the nature of recomendations or would they
have executive force? Wuld its jurisdiction extend to the mlitary and the
security forces? He also welconed the steps being taken to inprove the status
of wonen, but thought that not enough information had been provi ded about
results achieved so far. The setting-up of a Presidential Conm ssion was an
excel l ent step, but was there no independent body to | ook into the matter?
Coul d not the proposed human rights comm ssion also play a role, inter alia,



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791
page 18

in connection with neeting women's enploynent targets? What results had been
achi eved by the Governnent's equal pay policy? Did an independent mechani sm
exi st for dealing with conplaints fromprisoners? The del egati on had

menti oned the possibility of petitioning the Mnister of Justice, but that was
a governmental rather than an independent channel

67. M. ZAKHH A asked who had the right to request a review of a | aw on
grounds of unconstitutionality. He also requested nore details about the
proportion of women in university and civil service posts and in the

prof essions. Wiy was wonen's participation in parlianment mniml, despite the
gquotas introduced? Lastly, he wondered whether the protection of human rights
in the Republic of Korea would not be enhanced if NGOs were given the right to
bring matters before the courts.

68. M. SCHEININ, referring to one of the two Optional Protocol cases

i nvol ving the Republic of Korea mentioned by an earlier speaker, recalled that
in explaining the court decision against the conplainant, the State party had
said that M. Tae Hoon Park had been convicted not because the | aw precl uded

t he application of the Covenant but as a matter of necessity. How could such
a position be justified in a country where a state of enmergency had not been
declared? Clearly, the National Security Law enjoyed priority over the
Covenant .

69. On the question of prenatal sex selection already raised, he said that
forcing a wonman to abort was a violation of article 7 of the Covenant. D d
the Korean CGovernnment see article 7 as a positive obligation to take effective
steps to elimnate such practices?

70. Turning to the question of the prevention of torture, he wel conmed the
action taken but noted that only a few of the numerous conplaints filed
resulted in an investigation and still fewer in the punishment of the
perpetrators. The root cause of the problem was perhaps the fact that the
Korean crimnal system seened to rely very heavily on confessions. It m ght
be hel pful if the rules of evidence were tightened in that respect, for
exanpl e by extending the wi thdrawal of a confession by the defendant to other
evi dence, including confessions by acconplices, obtained through pre-tria

i nterrogation.

71. In that connection, he referred to the second Optional Protocol case
(Al az and Jamil) involving the Republic of Korea that had been considered by
the Committee. Agreeing with previous speakers that the pre-trial detention
peri od was excessively long, he suggested that a higher degree of conpliance
with article 9, paragraph 3, of the Covenant could be achi eved by ensuring
that judges saw the detainee at regular intervals and that he or she received
frequent visits froma doctor and a |lawer. A stricter separation of
detention prem ses for persons held by the police, the investigating authority
and the court, respectively, would also help to eradicate torture. D d sonme
trials take place inside the detention centre, or was that prohibited?

72. Lastly, referring to the del egation's encouragi ng remarks about the

| ong-term possibility of abolishing the death penalty, he asked for an update
of the situation with regard to death sentences and executions. D d the
current situation effectively ampunt to a noratoriunf



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1791

page 19
73. Ms. CHANET said that positive devel opnents since the consideration of
Korea's initial report included the prospective establishnent of a nationa
human rights conm ssion and the w thdrawal of some, if not all, of the

Republic of Korea's reservations to articles of the Covenant. On the other
hand, many points raised in connection with the initial report were stil

out standi ng. No amendnents had been introduced in the Constitution, although
sonme of its provisions, such as for exanple paragraph 37 (2), were manifestly
at variance with the Covenant. Wile welcom ng the fact that the Governnent
appeared to be aware of the problem she enphasized that the National Security
Law was i nconsistent with not only article 19, but also article 9 of the
Covenant .

74. Agreeing with previous speakers that the pre-trial detention period was
too |l ong, she asked what were the detainee's rights during that tinme. Wen
could he first see his |lawer or a doctor? Could the |awer be present at the
i nterrogation? Wen were his rights, including the right to be asked to be
brought before a judge, explained to hin? |In any event, should that right not
be granted automatically? She invited the delegation to explain how Korea
interpreted its obligations under article 9, paragraphs 3 and 4 of the
Covenant. Additional information about the conditions governing the issue of
arrest warrants by the judge would al so be wel cone.

75. In conclusion, associating herself with M. Klein's and M. Lallah's
remar ks concerning the reappoi ntnment of judges, she said it had been brought
to her notice that a judge who had convicted five policenen had subsequently
not been reappointed. She would be glad to receive further information about
the Republic of Korea's compliance with article 14 of the Covenant in that
connecti on.

The neeting rose at 1.05 p.m




